
  

 
 

 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE & CITY OF NOTTINGHAM FIRE & RESCUE  AUTHORITY - 
FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

 
Date: Friday, 14 October 2016 Time:  10.00 am 
 
Venue: Fire and Rescue Services HQ, Bestwood Lodge, Arnold Nottingham NG5 8PD 
 
 
Members are requested to attend the above meeting to be held at the time, place 
and date mentioned to transact the following business 
 

 
 
Clerk to the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

 Pages 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 

3  MINUTES  
To approve the minutes of the meeting on 24 June 2016. 
 

3 - 8 

4  REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT TO AUGUST 2016  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

9 - 22 

5  PRUDENTIAL CODE MONITORING REPORT TO AUGUST 2016  
Report of the Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
 

23 - 30 

6  REPORT ON FIRE SERVICE PROCUREMENT  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

31 - 40 

7  REPORT ON THE VEHICLE REPLACEMENT STRATEGY  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

41 - 56 

8  CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 

57 - 86 

Public Document Pack



2 

 
 
ANY COUNCILLOR WHO IS UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING AND WISHES TO 
SUBMIT APOLOGIES SHOULD DO SO VIA THE PERSONAL ASSISTANT TO THE 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER AT FIRE SERVICES HEADQUARTERS ON 0115 967 0880 
 
IF YOU NEED ANY ADVICE ON DECLARING AN INTEREST IN ANY ITEM ABOVE, 
PLEASE CONTACT THE CONSTITUTIONAL SERVICES OFFICER SHOWN ON THIS 
AGENDA, IF POSSIBLE BEFORE THE DAY OF THE MEETING.  
 
Governance Officer:  James Welbourn  
 0115 8763288 
 james.welbourn@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 

 
 

Agenda, reports and minutes for all public meetings can be viewed online at:- 
http://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1 

 



1 

 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM 

FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
NOTTINGHAMSHIRE & CITY OF NOTTINGHAM FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY - 
FINANCE AND RESOURCES 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Fire and Rescue Services HQ, Bestwood 
Lodge, Arnold Nottingham NG5 8PD on 24 June 2016 from 10.00 - 10.51 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Malcolm Wood (Chair) 
Councillor Chris Barnfather 
Councillor Gordon Wheeler 
Councillor Brian Grocock 
Councillor Sybil Fielding 
Councillor Darrell Pulk 
 

Councillor John Allin 
Councillor John Clarke 
Councillor Dave Liversidge 
 

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
 
John Buckley - Chief Fire Officer, NFRS 
Rob Disney - County Council Auditor 
Sue Maycock - Head of Finance, NFRS 
Ian Pritchard - Head of Procurement and Resources, NFRS 
Neil Timms - Treasurer to the Authority 
Zena West - Governance Officer 
 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Councillor John Allin (Councillor Sybil Fielding substituting) 
Councillor John Clarke (Councillor Darrell Pulk substituting) 
Councillor Dave Liversidge (Councillor Brian Grocock substituting) 
 
2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
3  MINUTES 

 
The Committee confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 15 April 2016 as a true 
record and they were signed by the Chair. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Finance and Resources - 
24.06.16 

2 

4  OUT-TURN FOR 2015/2016 
 

Sue Maycock, Head of Finance, presented the outturn report for 2015/16 detailing 
the financial performance of the Service, and analysing significant variances against 
the original budget. 
 
The final Statement of Accounts will go to the Combined Fire Authority meeting in 
September 2016 but, as they are still subject to audit, the outturn could change, but 
this is unlikely. 
 
When the budget was approved it included a planned contribution to reserves and 
the outturn position reflects this. There is an £873,000 underspend for the year, 
which includes the £570,000 contribution to reserves. The level of reserves at the 
end of the year reserves puts the Service in a good position whilst the sustainability 
strategy is implemented over the next few years.  
 
The variances are largely the same as have been reported previously, but the fuel 
underspend of £124,000 wasn’t expected. This is due to a price decrease for diesel 
and a reduction in the amount of fuel that has been used.  
 
Monitoring of the fuel budget needs to be more robust, and bunkered stock has to be 
accounted for throughout the year. The current year’s fuel budget has been reduced 
by £30,000. 
 
It was previously reported to the Human Resources Committee that there were a 
number of pension errors and negotiations had taken place with the previous 
pension’s administrator to resolve them. This year further negotiations have taken 
place and the Service has received £176,000 to offset costs. This was received at the 
end of February and will be allocated to the reserves. 
 
Over £300,000 of earmarked reserves have been used to support pension strain and 
redundancy programmes. There were an unusually high number of ill health 
retirements in 2014/15, which has impacted on the outturn and will continue to impact 
over the next two years. 
 
Approximately £400,000 of revenue budget has been used to finance the capital 
programme. Capital receipts from the sale of vehicles have also been used to 
partially finance the capital programme.  
 
RESOLVED to 
 
(1) note the contents of the report; 

 
(2) approve the total capital slippage of £1.211m to be carried forward to 

2016/17. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 4



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Finance and Resources - 
24.06.16 

3 

5  REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT TO MAY 2016 
 

Sue Maycock, Head of Finance, presented the revenue and capital monitoring report 
detailing the financial performance of the Service to the end of May 2016, focussing 
on key areas where outturn variances are likely to occur. 
 
There are some variances emerging already. The approved budget included a deficit, 
which was to be funded by a transfer from reserves at the end of the year. The 
current forecast overspend is £100,000 but this can all be funded by relevant 
earmarked reserves, if required. 
 
The Wholetime pay budget reflects a reduced establishment this year and it was 
acknowledged by the Combined Fire Authority, when the budget was approved, that 
achievement of this would take place over the course of the year with the natural 
turnover of employees.  An earmarked reserve has been created this year to support 
the Wholetime pay budget during this transition and to date £180,000 of this 
£350,000 reserve will be required to fund the overspend. 
 
The administrative and support pay is underspent due to a number of vacancies at 
the end of year, but recruitment is now underway and a number of temporary posts 
have been approved to work on projects.   
 
Ill health retirement costs are overspent, but the budget for injury pensions is 
expected to be underspent so can offset the overspend on ill health retirements. 
 
There is an underspend on interest charges as no new long term borrowing has 
taken place. 
 
The capital programme includes the slippage approved in the outturn report. The total 
underspend is almost £2.3m, mostly in fleet. A key issue is the sustainability strategy, 
which means the Service needs to review the types of vehicles it uses.  
 
The London Road Fire Station project has a predicted underspend. The Newark, 
Hucknall and Worksop Fire Station projects are all in the early stages. 
 
All ICT projects are progressing well with no projected slippage. 
 
Members commented that the transport budget appears to miss targets regularly, so 
it may be appropriate to bring the transport strategy to a future meeting. 
 
RESOLVED to 
 
(1) note the contents of the report; 

 
(2) note that a transfer of funding of £108,000 from earmarked reserves to 

the Whole-time pay budget will be effected to fund the overspend of pay 
to date resulting from the planned over-establishment of posts; 
 

(3) request that the Chief Fire Officer presents a report to the next meeting 
of this Committee outlining the future transport strategy and any 
financial implications.  

Page 5



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Finance and Resources - 
24.06.16 

4 

 
  
 
6  PRUDENTIAL CODE MONITORING REPORT TO MAY 2016 

 
Neil Timms, Treasurer to the Fire Authority, presented the prudential code monitoring 
report detailing the performance of the Service to the end of May 2016 relating to the 
prudential indicators for capital accounting and treasury management. 
 
There is a continual issue with limits in terms of loan maturity, which is caused 
because the Service isn’t borrowing any long-term money, but this doesn’t raise any 
concerns. 
 
Treasury management is complex and there needs to be balance between available 
liquid funds and funds in investments or borrowed. The Service has taken out a short 
term loan with another Local Authority.  
 
RESOLVED to note the contents of the report. 
 
 
7  INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016 

 
Neil Timms, Treasurer to the Fire Authority, and Rob Disney, County Council Auditor, 
presented the internal audit report for 2015/16. 
 
The internal auditors prepare an annual report which gives the opportunity to review 
internal audit, as required under the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting, 
to analyse efficiency and effectiveness. The report shows the Service meets the 
standards expected. 
 
6 final reports and 3 draft reports were issued last year, and 4 audits were ongoing at 
year end. The findings for 3 of the audits were that all but one of the draft and final 
reports carried positive opinion. The exception was on the Princes Trust Partnership, 
but this has now been finalised and will be reported on at a later stage. The auditors 
are satisfied with the overall level of control, and the findings can be carried through 
to the annual governance statement. 
 
The 2016/17 plan is based on an audit risk assessment which uses a range of risk 
factors for different areas that might be covered. The outcome sets out the assessed 
levels of risk in place for each of the different areas of the plan. There is flexibility in 
the schedule as risks need to be kept under review and there needs to be ability to 
respond to any new and emerging risks coming through. 
 
RESOLVED to note the contents of the report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Finance and Resources - 
24.06.16 

5 

 
8  REVISED PROPERTY STRATEGY 

 
Ian Pritchard, Head of Procurement and Resources, presented the revised property 
strategy detailing minor revisions to the strategy that was agreed in October 2014. 
 
When the strategy was first presented in October 2014 it was agreed that it would be 
reviewed every year. The revisions are relatively minor and mainly focus on changing 
the terminology used, emphasis on cooperating with other organisations, and 
updating estimated costs for the future.  
 
It is now proposed for the review every to take place every 2 years.  
 
RESOLVED to note the contents of the report. 
 
9  NEW LONDON ROAD FIRE STATION PROJECT UPDATE 

 
Ian Pritchard, Head of Procurement and Resources, presented the update report on 
the new London Road Fire Station Project. 
 
The new station is on the former Gresham works site on London Road and will be 
about a third of the size of the Central Fire Station. The Service agreed a value of 
£600,000 with the City Council, and also agreed to share accommodation with the 
Council’s Emergency Planning Team. 4 tunnels running under London Road have 
been found on site which the Service has agreed to fill and has been incorporated 
into the contract.  
 
The development was competitively tendered and 6 were shortlisted, and it was won 
by J Tomlinsons who are Nottinghamshire based. The planning permission had 29 
conditions, the majority of which were to do with the land contamination.  
 
The Station will be linked to the district heating system, and negotiations are to agree 
a contract for the price over the next 20 years. There will be the maximum amount of 
photovoltaic panels installed on the roof, which will reduce heating and electricity 
costs. There is also a 30% CO2 emission reduction. The thermal insulation on the 
building has been increased at minimal cost to reduce costs going forward.  
 
The project is predicted to be completed under budget. The budget is £5m, and costs 
currently stand at between £4.6m and £4.7m, but ICT and furniture are still being 
sourced, so the final cost is not known yet. The final report on the budget will 
probably be about 6 months after the Service has moved in.  
 
The station will include a greenwave traffic management system so when a 
mobilisation occurs the traffic control centre will control traffic depending on what 
direction the engines want to travel in from the station. 
 
The build is due to finish in August with an estimated moving in date of 13 
September. 
 
RESOLVED to note the contents of the report. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
Finance and Resources Committee 
 

REVENUE AND CAPITAL 
MONITORING REPORT TO      
AUGUST 2016 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
 

Date:    

  
Purpose of Report:  
 
To report to Members on the financial performance of the Service in the year 2016/17 
to the end of August 2016.  This report focuses on those key areas where outturn 
variances are likely to occur. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
Sue Maycock 
Head of Finance  

Tel : 0115 967 0880 

Email : sue.maycock@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Therese Easom 
(0115) 967 0880  therese.easom@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



1.     BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Budget monitoring is a key aspect of financial management for the Fire 
and Rescue Authority. Regular reporting of spending against both the 
revenue and capital budgets is a check that spending is within available 
resources and, if necessary, allows for financial resources to be re-
assigned to meet changing priorities. 

 
1.2 For this report, those key areas with a higher risk of significant variance 

are reported on. An assessment of this risk has been made in the light 
of the size of the budgets selected and / or previous experience of 
variances, as well as the emergence of actual variances. 

 
1.3 In this financial year, the overall revenue budget is at its lowest level 

since 2007/08 and it is vital that an overview of the budgetary position 
during the year is maintained so that appropriate action can be taken in 
respect of significant variances and the budget is managed as a whole. 

 

2 REPORT 

 
REVENUE BUDGET 
 
2.1 Headlines: When the 2016/17 revenue budget of £41.295m was approved 

by the Fire Authority in February 2016 it was on the basis that a £98k deficit 
in the budget would be supported by a transfer from general reserves. This 
was in line with the Medium Term Financial Strategy which sets out as a 
principle that financial planning will take account of the possible use of 
reserves to minimise the effect of reductions in funding as a means of 
transition. However, at this stage in the year there is a forecasted 
underspend of £683k so the transfer from general reserves is unlikely to be 
necessary.  

 
2.2 The forecasted underspend of £683k is largely due to two significant 

variances, the first of which is a forecasted underspend of £386k relating to 
interest charges. The second significant variance has arisen due to the 
number of wholetime employees falling faster than expected, meaning that 
staffing levels have already decreased to 478.6 FTE against the new 
approved establishment of 476. This, together with further retirements 
forecasted before the end of the financial year, means that the wholetime 
pay budget is no longer expected to significantly overspend. The creation 
of a £350k earmarked reserve, which Members approved to support the 
wholetime pay budget during this period of transition, is therefore unlikely to 
be required. This has resulted in a forecasted underspend of £350k. These 
two key variances are explained further in the report below. The Revenue 
Monitoring position is shown in summary at Appendix A. 

 
2.3 Wholetime Pay: the variance to date is a £114k overspend, and this 

budget is expected to be overspent by £34k by the end of the financial 
year. This is due to four main reasons:  
 
 

Page 10



 The Wholetime establishment was reduced to 476 from 1April 2016, 
and at that time it was assumed that the actual number of employees 
would not reduce to this level through natural turnover until 
approximately the end of the financial year. However, there have been 
13 retirements during the period 1 April to 31 August, with a further two 
confirmed for September. As at the end of August, the number of 
Wholetime employees in post had reduced to 478.6 full time equivalent 
(FTE). This over-establishment of posts in the first five months of the 
year has caused an overspend of £157k to date. Although it is difficult to 
accurately forecast retirements, it is likely that there will be at least eight 
more retirements before the end of the financial year. As a result, the 
underspend accruing as the number of staff falls below the 
establishment level will almost offset the overspend arising in the first 
half of the year and a net £26k overspend is forecasted for the full 
financial year. Members approved the creation of a £350k earmarked 
reserve in 2016/17 to support the Wholetime pay budget during this 
period of transition, and in June Members of this committee approved a 
virement of £108k from this reserve into the Wholetime pay budget to 
fund the overspend that was forecast at that time. This virement has 
since been reversed, as current forecasts indicate that this earmarked 
reserve will not be required. 

 

 Pre-planned and operational overtime is overspent to date by £15k, and 
it is forecasted to be overspent by £121k by the end of the financial 
year. This is mainly due to an increase in pre-planned overtime to cover 
vacancies on the ridership.  

 

 The forecasted overspend of £34k includes expenditure of £73k relating 
to employee costs for the Emergency Services Mobile Communications 
Project (ESMCP). This expenditure could be funded from an earmarked 
reserve, which would change the £34k forecasted overspend to a £38k 
underspend. 

 

 The wholetime pay budget includes £185k for short term project work, 
which was intended to support key projects such as the ESMCP, Tri-
Service Control Phase 2 and “Shaping the Future” work. None of this 
money has needed to be spent to date as costs have been covered 
within the main Wholetime pay budget, although this project work will 
impact on overtime requirements as indicated above. The resulting 
underspend of £185k is included within the overall forecasted 
overspend of £34k. 

 
2.4 Retained Pay: This budget is overspending by £18k, but this overspend is 

expected to reduce to £12k by the end of the financial year due to the 
timing of expenditure on paid annual leave. The forecasted overspend is 
mainly due to higher than expected expenditure on drills and training, which 
can be attributed to the relatively high number of recently recruited retained 
firefighters. 
 

2.5 Administrative and Support Pay: the variance to date is an underspend 
of £117k, and this budget is expected to underspend by £160k by the end 
of the financial year. £31k of the forecasted £160k underspend relates to 
net savings arising from the restructuring of posts in Corporate Support, 

Page 11



and £72k relates to posts which have been deleted from the Prince’s Trust 
establishment. The remaining underspend has arisen due to a number of 
vacant posts, although the savings relating to these are being partially 
offset by the appointment of a number of temporary posts which have been 
approved to work on projects such as Public Sector Network (PSN). The 
cost of this project work is around £112k. 

 
2.6 Training: the training budget is overspent by £48k to date, but it is 

expected to be underspent by £11k by the end of the financial year. The 
forecasted underspend is due to a combination of a £15k overspend 
relating to specialist rescue training, and a £26k underspend relating to the 
Prince’s Trust. Specialist rescue is overspending because additional 
accommodation costs have been incurred. The Prince’s Trust expenditure 
budget was set prior to the decision to reduce the number of teams being 
run, and this reduction in the level of activity will lead to an underspend. 
Further detail about the financial position of the Prince’s Trust can be found 
in paragraph 2.14. 

 
2.7 Pension Costs: the pension revenue budgets are overspent to date by 

£139k, however this overspend is expected to reduce to £92k at year end. 
This overspend is due to two main reasons: 

 

 Ill health charges are forecast to overspend by £114k. This is largely 
due to the ill health retirements of four employees in 2014/15, the final 
instalment of which will impact on the revenue budget this year. The 
forecast outturn also includes the cost of one lower tier retirement which 
took place in July, and the estimated cost of three additional lower tier 
retirements (one Wholetime and two retained) which are likely to occur 
before the end of the financial year. There is an earmarked reserve 
which can be used to support this budget if required. 
 

 The budget for injury pensions is expected to underspend by £22k due 
to there being no new injury pensions so far this year compared to a 
budget assumption of one new case.  

 
2.8 Redundancy and Severance Payments: redundancy costs of £13k have 

been incurred, resulting in a £51k underspend against a £64k budget. 
There has been one redundancy, which occurred as a result of the 
reduction in the size of the Prince’s Trust Team. Further redundancies were 
avoided due to redeployment and the deletion of a vacant post. No further 
expenditure is planned at this time. 

 
2.9 Premises related expenditure: the Rent of Premises budget is 

underspent by £26k to date, and this underspend is expected to increase 
slightly to £28k by the end of the financial year. This budget covers the 
Guildhall accommodation recharges for Central Fire Station. There are 
plans to vire some of this budget to cover the district heating and electricity 
costs of the new London Road Fire Station, which are estimated at £35k 
per annum and this is essentially an on-going saving. The forecasted 
underspend figure of £28k takes into account the part year costs for 
London Road. The premises insurance budget is expected to underspend 
by £22k by the end of the financial year due to a saving which arose as a 
result of the recent tendering process. 

Page 12



 
2.10 Transport related expenditure:  

 Finance Lease Extensions and Terminations: the leased appliances 
which were used to bolster the fleet during industrial action periods 
have now been returned to the leasing company. The leases for these 
appliances had been extended and this overspend of £16k is for the 
final payment. Three fire appliances have been purchased off-lease at a 
cost of £19k. These have been bought to backfill appliances being 
temporarily taken out of the fleet due to the BA Telemetry Modification 
Programme. The three appliances will be sold or donated on completion 
of the project, which is due to finish in July 2017. The total overspend 
on this budget is therefore £35k. 
 

 Fuel: the fuel budget is expected to underspend by £50k by the end of 
the financial year. This is due to a reduction in the size of the fleet, and 
a general decrease in vehicle usage. Expenditure against this budget is 
very volatile and is affected by factors such as fluctuations in oil prices. 
Fuel costs will therefore be closely monitored, and any significant 
change to the forecasted outturn will be reported at the earliest 
opportunity. 

 
2.11 Supplies and Services: Overall the Supplies and Services budget is 

expected to be overspent by £37k. This variance is due to a number of 
reasons:  

 

 The Smoke Alarm budget is expected to underspend by £12k. 
Expenditure on smoke alarms has fallen in recent years, from £90k in 
2014/15 to £60k in 2015/16. Expenditure during the first five months of 
2016/17 is £37k. This reduction in expenditure is attributed to the 
adoption of a risk profiling method to decide which households should 
receive a smoke alarm, which has resulted in a reduction in the number 
of alarms issued. However, Service Delivery is looking at restructuring 
the working day of operational crews to give them more time to 
undertake the new Safe and Well checks. The first districts planned to 
undertake this new work are Gedling, Ashfield, and the City. This is due 
to start in March 2017, and it is expected that all districts will be 
undertaking Safe and Well checks by the end of 2017. Expenditure on 
smoke alarms is therefore expected to increase during 2017/18 as the 
programme is rolled out. The Service is working with health data which 
is being cross-mapped with County Council Adult Social Care database 
to increase the number of referrals for Safe and Well checks. 
 

 The Reference Books and Publications budget is due to overspend by 
£20k, however this can be funded from an earmarked reserve if required. 
The overspend is caused by a contribution to CFOA’s National 
Operational Guidance project. The Service has a three year commitment 
to this project, so it was decided that it could be funded from the resilience 
earmarked reserve rather than the revenue budget. 

 

 The Contribution to Partnership Working budget is expected to overspend 
by £40k due to a contribution to the New Cross Support Team, however 
that expenditure can be met from earmarked reserves if required.  The 
Service is at an early stage of developing links with the wider public health 

Page 13



agenda, and this may result in new partnerships being formed with the 
health sector. At the moment there is some uncertainty around time 
scales, and if no new partnerships are entered into before the end of the 
financial year there could possibly be a further underspend of around 
£12k. This potential underspend is not included in the overall forecast 
overspend of £40k. 

   
2.12 Treasury Services: the Treasury Services budget is expected to overspend 

by £15k by the end of the financial year. This is due to increased pension 
administration costs arising from additional workloads and adaptations to 
systems required for pension regulatory changes. 

 
2.13 Special Service Charges Income: in December 2015 Members approved 

the implementation of a plan for the recovery of costs for attending special 
service incidents, and approved a new scale of charges. This plan has not yet 
been fully implemented, and as a result there is a forecasted deficit of £22k 
against the £42k income budget. 

 
2.14 Interest Receivable: there is a forecasted deficit of £31k for investment 

income. This is partly due to a decrease in interest rates following the cut in 
the Bank of England base rate in August, and partly due to lower than 
expected levels of cash balances as a result of a decision to delay long term 
borrowing for capital expenditure and instead rely on “internally borrowing” 
funds from the Authority’s reserves. This strategy of using internally borrowed 
funds has reduced the Authority’s interest rate payments, and avoided an 
increase in cash balances at a time when investment rates are low and credit 
ratings are relatively volatile. 

 
2.15 Capital Financing Costs: Overall the capital financing budgets are 

forecasted to underspend by £421k by the end of the financial year. £35k of 
this underspend is attributable to the minimum revenue provision charge, 
which is lower than anticipated due to an underspent capital programme in 
2015/16. The remaining £386k underspend relates to interest rate charges. 
The Authority is advised by Capita on treasury management matters and, on 
advice, long term borrowing has been delayed and temporary borrowing was 
taken at a much lower rate instead. The Authority has recently taken a £3m 
long term loan from the Public Works Loans Board at a rate of 1.95%. This 
rate is particularly low when compared with the average loan rate during 
2015/16, which was 3.2%. This underspend is therefore partly due to taking 
borrowing later in the year than budgeted, and partly due to taking borrowing 
at a lower interest rate than budgeted. The element of the underspend arising 
from the lower interest rate will be converted into a budgetary saving for 
2017/18 onwards. 

 
2.16 The Prince’s Trust: The overall forecasted deficit for the current financial 

year is £84k. This represents a net underspend of £111k against the 
budgeted net deficit of £195k. The most significant individual variances relate 
to salary costs, redundancy costs and training costs, and these variances are 
all detailed elsewhere in this report. The income forecast for 2016/17 is 
currently £192k against a budget of £161k. Around £80k of the estimated 
£192k relates to the previous financial year. However, there is some 
uncertainty around exactly how much income is still outstanding from 
2015/16. The Delivery Partner Manager is arranging a meeting with Central 

Page 14



College in order to determine this, and the outcome of this meeting could 
potentially affect the forecasted outturn figure. If this is the case Members will 
be updated at the earliest opportunity. 

 
2.17 Other Income:  

 Contribution to Earmarked Reserves: The budget included a contribution 
of £350k to earmarked reserves which was planned to be used to support 
the Wholetime pay budget during its transition this year towards 476 
employees. As set out in paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2, this earmarked reserve 
is unlikely to be required this year and so the transfer to earmarked 
reserves has not taken place and this budget is therefore currently 
showing an underspend of £350k.  

 

 Contribution from General Reserves: The underlying overspend of £98k in 
the Budget Requirement is reflected in the budget as a contribution from 
General Reserves to balance the budget. Due to the two significant 
underspends outlines in paragraph 2.1 there is likely to be a contribution 
to reserves as a result of the overall forecasted underspend this year and 
this will offset the £98k budget deficit, which still stands as a negative 
variance i.e. an overspend of £98k. 

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
2.18 A capital programme for 2015/16 of £1,964k was approved by Members at 

the February 2016 Fire Authority meeting. 
 
2.19 There was slippage in the 2014/15 capital programme and Members 

approved that £2,809k be carried forward to 2016/17 at the Fire Authority 
meeting on 26 June 2015. In addition there is slippage from the 2015/16 
capital programme and Members approved £1,211k be carried forward to 
2016/17 at the Fire Authority meeting on 24 June 2016. This brings the total 
capital programme to £5,984k for the year. The total spend to date is £1,298k 
and the forecast out-turn expenditure is £3,458k, giving a forecast 
underspend of £2,526k, and the current capital programme is shown at 
Appendix B. The most significant area of underspend is within the Transport 
element of the capital programme and the current position has been fed into 
the Vehicle Replacement Strategy, which is also on the agenda for this 
meeting. 

 
2.20 A capital grant has already been received for the Tri-Service Control 

Mobilising system (£319k remaining), as well as £12k of capital receipts from 
the sale of vehicles. The sale of Central Fire Station is expected to complete 
this year and this will result in a capital receipt of £2.5m. A £3m long term 
loan has been taken out in September 2016 to finance capital expenditure, 
and a temporary loan of £4m was taken out in May in advance of this to 
enable the management of cash.  

 
2.21 Transport: The replacement programme for rescue appliances will need to 

slip into next year because a review is now underway to consider alternative 
fleet options to meet the objectives of the Sustainability Strategy 2020 and the 
operational need for vehicles required for Service Delivery.  The outcome of 
this work will determine the type and number of vehicles within the long term 
vehicle replacement plan and should be known early in the next financial 

Page 15



year.  This budget will be used to complete the appliances which are already 
in build and the remaining sum of £907k will slip forward to 2017/18. 

 
2.22    The budget for special appliances is unlikely to be spent in 2016/17. 

The Command Support Unit is to go out to mini competition. A 
feasibility study has been carried out to ascertain the requirement of 
the unit, however work needs to be completed on the design. 
The HMEPU (Hazardous Materials and Environmental Protection Unit) 
requires re-specification to meet the changing needs of Service Delivery and 
duties of the Environment Agency.  The process of determining the 
equipment to be carried on the HMEPU is currently underway and will dictate 
the type of vehicle needed to fulfil this role. Until this process is complete it 
will delay the start of the specification of the vehicle itself and require slippage 
of £151k into 2017/18.  

 
2.23 A review of light vehicle utilisation has been undertaken and the results of this 

need to be considered and then fed into the medium term strategy for light 
fleet. At this stage in the year it planned that some vehicles will be replaced 
before the year end, but some of this budget will slip into next year and some 
of it will be permanently saved if, as is likely, it is determined that the light 
fleet size and specification can be reduced as a result of the review. An 
outturn of £150k is anticipated for the light fleet element. 

 
2.24 Equipment: The replacement Holmatro pumps and hoses have been 

received and issued to stations. Additional hoses were required to meet 
operational requirements which was greater than the original estimate, and 
this has led to a slight overspend of £3k. 

 
2.25  Estates: The London Road Fire Station Project is now completed and the 

new station was handed over to NFRS on 12 August 2016. The project is 
currently predicted to come in under the last reported estimate of £5.005m 
and is expected to be in the region of £4.7m.  The majority of the project 
expenditure will be paid within the current financial year except for the 
contract retention and fees (estimated at circa £115k) which will be paid in the 
next financial year.  

 
2.26 The new Newark Fire Station Project has now started with the early design 

work to rebuild the station on the western part of the same site whilst 
continuing to operate from the station on the eastern part of the site. On 
completion of the new station the surplus land (the site of the existing station 
building) will be disposed of, which has currently been valued at circa £275k. 
The initial programme is indicating that the design and tendering for the 
project will be complete by March / April 2017 with a construction period of up 
to sixteen months and a project completion in the summer of 2018. 
 

2.27 Work with the East Midlands Ambulance Service on the potential 
collaboration concerning the existing Hucknall Fire Station is underway with 
both organisations working toward agreeing terms of a collaborative 
arrangement.  The details and budget impact of these negotiations are to be 
reported once a draft agreement has been reached.  
 

2.28 The initial feasibility work for a new Worksop Fire Station is currently 
underway. 

Page 16



 
2.29 ICT: The ICT capital programme budget will be used throughout the year for 

on-going ICT purchases such as additional software and hardware along with 
consultancy services. 

 
2.30 The Skype for Business (telephony replacement) project is projected to be 

rolled out to all stations by March 2017 and the Mobile Working budget will be 
used to purchase additional hardware. 
 

2.31 Business Process Automation – this budget will continue to be used to 
finance ICT Strategic developments such as the implementation of the new 
SharePoint solution and migration to Office365.  The earmarked reserve 
created for SharePoint will supplement specific expenditure related to this 
system. 
 

2.32 For business systems, the implementation phase of the project to upgrade the 
finance and procurement system in collaboration with Leicestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service has gone live in Nottinghamshire and is due to be completed 
this year. The payroll replacement system project implementation phase is 
also underway and again is expected to be delivered by the year end. Phase 
two of the Tri-Service Control system project is in progress and the project to 
upgrade the transport system is in the options appraisal stage. 

 
2.33 All ICT projects are expected to come in at around the budget sum at this 

stage in the year. 
   

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The financial implications are set out in the body of the report. 
 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT  
IMPLICATIONS  

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications 
arising directly from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
An Equality Impact Assessment has not been undertaken because this report is not 
associated with a policy, function or service. Its purpose is to explain variances to the 
approved budget, which reflects existing policies. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 
 

Page 17



7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
Budget monitoring and the regular receipt of financial reports is key to managing one 
of the most significant risks to the organisation, that of financial risk. The process of 
budget monitoring is a key risk management control measure as are the 
management actions which are stimulated by such reporting. 
 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members note the contents of this report. 
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

Page 18



Appendix A 

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING TO AUGUST 2016 

Account Description Annual Budget 
Profile 
Budget 

Actual YTD Commitments 
Net 

Expenditure 
Forecast 
Out-turn 

Out-turn  
to Budget 

 

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s 

        

        Employees 32,598 13,370 13,463 82 13,545 32,452 -146 

        Premises-Related Expenditure 2,202 990 759 299 1,058 2,153 -49 

        Transport-Related Expenditure 1,704 757 739 470 1,209 1,714 10 

        Supplies & Services 3,590 1,501 1,081 440 1,521 3,627 37 

        Third Party Payments 58 24 23 
 

23 58  

       
 

Support Services 211 43 136 
                         

19 158 226 15 

        Depreciation and Impairment Losses 
       

        Sales Fees & Charges -193 -75 -29 
 

-29 -187 6 

       
 

Other Income -1,365 -694 -809 
 

-809 -1,501 -135 

        Capital Financing Costs 2,392          0          349 
 

349 1,971 -421 

        

 
41,197 15,916 15,712 1,310 17,025 40,513 -683 

P
age 19



Appendix B 

CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING TO AUGUST 2016 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 

2016/17 
Approved 

Budget 

Slippage 
from 

2014/15 

Slippage 
from  

2015/16 

2016/17 
Virements 

2016/17 
Revised 
Budget 

Actual 
to Aug 

Remaining 
Budget to 
be Spent 

Estimated 
Out-turn 

Estimated Out-
turn Variance 

  
 £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's  £000's £000's 

TRANSPORT 
          Rescue Pump Replacement 
 

907 313 -240 0 980 3 -977 73 -907 
Special Appliances 

 
52 202 119 0 373 0 -373 0 -373 

Appliance Equipment (radios) 
 

26 36 17 0 79 0 -79 50 -29 
Light Vehicle Replacement 

 
173 394 336 0 903 24 -879 150 -753 

  
1,158 945 232 0 2,335 27 -2,308 273 -2,062 

EQUIPMENT 
          Special Appliances Equipment 

(Holmatro) 
 

157 0 0   157 160 3 160 3 

  
157 0 0 0 157 160 3 160 3 

ESTATES 
          London Road Fire Station 
 

0 0 268 1,335 1,603 896 -707 1,603 0 
Refurbishment and Rebuilding Fire 
Stations 

 
0 1,664 0 -1,538 126 0 -126 0 -126 

Feasibility Studies & Station Design 
 

23 0 225 -60 188 95 -92 111 -77 
Newark Fire Station 

 
325 0 0 60 385 0 -385 184 -201 

Hucknall Fire Station 
 

0 0 0 203 203 0 -203 203 0 
Worksop Fire Station 

 
0 0 0 0 

 
0 

 
0 0 

Retention Payments 
 

0 0 64 0 64 0 -64 0 -64 

  
348 1,664 557 0 2,569 991 -1,577 2,101 -468 

I.T. & COMMUNICATIONS 
          ICT Capital Programme 
 

140 0 14 0 154 48 -106 154 0 
Mobile Computing 

 
20 0 0 0 20 0 -20 20 0 

Business Process Automation 
 

95 200 0 0 295 23 -273 295 0 
Telephony Replacement 

 
0 0 35 0 35 27 -8 35 0 

  
255 200 49 0 504 98 -407 504 0 

HUMAN RESOURCES 
          HR System Replacement 
 

0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 

  
0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 

           

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 20



 

  

2016/17 
Approved 

Budget 

Slippage 
from 

2014/15 

Slippage 
from  

2015/16 

2016/17 
Virements 

2016/17 
Revised 
Budget 

Actual 
to Aug 

Remaining 
Budget to 
be Spent 

Estimated 
Outturn 

Estimated Out-
turn Variance 

 
 
TRANSPORT 

          Tranman Software 
 

11 0 25 0 36 0 -36 36 0 

  
11 0 25 0 36 0 -36 36 0 

CONTROL 
          Tri-Service Control & Mobilising 

System 
 

0 0 178 0 178 2 -176 178 0 

  
0 0 178 0 178 2 -176 178 0 

FINANCE 
          Payroll System Replacement 
   

100 
 

100 16 -84 100 0 
Finance Agresso Upgrade 

 
35 

 
70 0 105 4 -101 105 0 

  
35   170   205 19 -186 205 0 

           

Grand Total 
 

1,964 2,809 1,211 0 5,984 1,298 -4,686 3,458 -2,526 

 
 

  

2016/17 
Approved 

Budget 

Slippage 
from 

2014/15 

Slippage 
from  

2015/16 

2016/17 
Virements 

2016/17 
Revised 
Budget 

Actual 
to 

Aug 
 

  
 £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's  

 
£000's  

 To Be Financed By : 
        Capital Grant – Tri Service 

Control 
 

178 
   

178 
  Capital Receipts - Property 

 
2,500 

   
2,500 

  Capital Receipts - Vehicles 
 

15 
   

15 12 
 New Borrowing 

 
3,291 

   
3,291 3,000 

 Total 
 

5,984 
   

5,984 3,012 
  

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
Finance and Resources Committee 
 

PRUDENTIAL CODE 
MONITORING REPORT TO  
AUGUST 2016 
 

Report of the Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
 
 

  

Date:  14 October 2016 
  
Purpose of Report:  
 
To inform Members of performance for the three month period to 31 August 2016 
relating to the prudential indicators for capital accounting and treasury management. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
Sue Maycock 
Head of Finance 

Tel : (0115) 967 0880 

Email : sue.maycock@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Therese Easom 
(0115) 967 0880  therese.easom@notts-fire.gov.uk 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5

mailto:.maycock@notts-fire.gov.uk
mailto:therese.easom@notts-fire.gov.uk


1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Local Government Act 2003 sets out a framework for the financing of 

capital investments in local authorities which came into operation from April 
2004. Alongside this, the Prudential Code was developed by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) as a professional code 
of practice to support local authorities’ decision making in the areas of capital 
investment and financing. Authorities are required by regulation to have 
regard to the Prudential Code, which CIPFA updated in 2011. 

 
1.2 The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure that the capital 

investment plans of authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable and 
that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 
professional practice. The Prudential Code sets out a number of indicators 
which authorities must use to support decision making. These are not 
designed to be comparative performance indicators. 

 
1.3 The Fire Authority approved these prudential indicators for 2016/17 at its 

meeting on 26 February 2016. 
 
1.4 The Prudential Code requires that local authorities report performance 

against prudential targets to Members. 
 

2. REPORT 

  
PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

 
2.1 Some of the prudential indicators set cannot easily be measured during the 

year and will be reported on in the Treasury Management Annual Report for 
2016/17 after the end of the financial year.  These indicators are: 

 

 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 2016/17 (affordability). 

 Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on Council Tax 
2016/17 (affordability). 

 Total capital expenditure 2016/17. 

 Capital Financing Requirement as at 31 March 2017. 
 
2.2 In terms of borrowing, the indicator “Gross borrowing and the capital 

financing requirement (CFR)” (a prudence indicator) requires that gross 
external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the CFR. The 
CFR at 1 April 2016 was £25.76m and was estimated to be £29.19m by the 
year end. During the period 1 April 2016 to 31 August 2016 the gross 
indebtedness of the Authority, calculated at the start of each month, did not 
exceed £24.337m including any requirements for temporary overdrafts. As at 
31 August 2016, the gross indebtedness of the Authority was £23.336m, 
which is well within the estimated CFR for the end of the year. A loan of £4m 
was taken on 9 May for three months at a rate of 0.48%, to support the 
Authority’s cash management temporarily. In addition the Authority has taken 

Page 24



out a long term maturity loan on 22 August of £3m over 49 years at a fixed 
rate of 1.95%. 

 
2.3 The Authority set an operational boundary for 2016/17 of £28.026m and an 

authorised limit of £30.829m. Although these limits are year end targets, the 
Authority is required to demonstrate that it has not exceeded them at any 
time during the financial year. Again, the maximum indebtedness of the 
Authority during the period, as shown in the paragraph above, is within the 
limits set.  

 
The graph given as Appendix B illustrates the levels of borrowing for the five 
months up to the end of August 2016. 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS 
 

2.4 An interest earnings budget of £76k was set for 2016/17, as at 31 August 
2016 £27k has been received. There are sums of interest earned on 
investments which have not yet matured, but it is difficult to say at this time 
whether or not the budget will be achieved this year. This will depend on the 
investment rates achievable during the remainder of this year. 

 
2.5 The treasury management target relating to interest rate exposure is that 

 fixed interest rate exposures should be between 0% and 100% of total 
 lending and that variable interest rate exposures should be between 0% and 
30%. During the period up to 31 August 2016, 100% of borrowing was at 
fixed interest rates. 

 
2.6 The treasury management target in respect of cash management is that the 

Authority’s bank overdraft should not exceed £200,000.  During the part of 
the 2016/17 financial year up to 31 August 2016 the account was not 
overdrawn. A graph of cash balances for the five months up to 31 August 
2016 is shown in Appendix A.  

 

 Treasury management limits relating to loan maturity are shown below: 
 

Loan Maturity 

 

Upper Limit Lower Limit 

Under 12 months 20% 0% 

12 months to 5 years 30% 0% 

5 years to 10 years 75% 0% 

10 years to 20 years 100% 0% 

Over 20 years 100% 30% 

 

Actual performance against these targets at 31 August 2016 is shown in the 
following graph and demonstrates that none of the maturity bands have been 
breached.  

Page 25



 
 

2.7 The upper limit for sums invested for longer than 364 days is £2m. During the 
part of the 2016/17 financial year up to 31 August 2016, no sums were 
invested for a fixed term of longer than 364 days. This excludes amounts 
invested in call accounts which can be withdrawn immediately if required. 

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The financial implications are set out in full within this report.  
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources and learning and development implications arising 
directly from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this report gives 
detail of performance against the approved Treasury Management Strategy and 
Prudential Code. These are financial policies and do not directly impact on 
employees or members of the public. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

Page 26



7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Prudential Code is a framework which sets out to quantify and minimise 
financial risk arising from the financing of capital, the investment of surplus funds 
and the maintenance of operating cash balances for the Authority. The favourable 
performance against the prudential targets demonstrates that these areas of 
operation are being managed effectively. 
 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members note the contents of this report. 
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Neil Timms 
TREASURER TO THE FIRE AUTHORITY 

Page 27



APPENDIX A 
 

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

16000

18000

01/04/2016 01/05/2016 01/06/2016 01/07/2016 01/08/2016 01/09/2016

£
0

0
0

's
Cash Balances April - Aug 16

Cash at Bank

Cash in Investments

Total Cash

P
age 28



APPENDIX B 

 
 

0.00

5000.00

10000.00

15000.00

20000.00

25000.00

30000.00

35000.00

01/04/2016 01/05/2016 01/06/2016 01/07/2016 01/08/2016 01/09/2016

£
0

0
0

's

Total Debt compared to Prudential Limits

Operational Limit

Authorised Limit

Actual

 

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham  
Fire and Rescue Authority 

Finance and Resources Committee 
 
 

REPORT ON FIRE SERVICE 
PROCUREMENT  
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer  
 
Date:   14 October 2016 
 
 

 
Purpose of Report:  
 
To provide an update to Members on the fire service procurement reforms under the 
Home Office. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
Ian Pritchard 
Head of Procurement and Resources 

Tel : (0115) 967 0880 

Email : ian.pritchard@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Therese Easom 
(0115) 967 0880  therese.easom@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6

mailto:ian.pritchard@notts-fire.gov.uk
mailto:therese.easom@notts-fire.gov.uk


 

 

1.    BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 This report is to update Members on the recent events concerning fire 

service procurement and to highlight the Home Office’s intention to reform 
the way fire sector procures its goods and services. 

1.2 The Government announced in May 2016 that as part of the reform of the 
Fire Service under the Home Office there was an intention to publish data to 
show how much each fire and rescue authority paid for items they purchase 
ranging over uniform, kit, equipment and vehicles. 

1.3 The stated aim was to help fire services work together to buy equipment and 
services and to publish this information to allow members of the public to 
compare performance, value for money and diversity.  

1.4 In response to the Home Office’s focus on procurement within the fire sector 
the Chief Fire Officers’ Association (CFOA) submitted a bid and was 
subsequently awarded a transitional grant to form a Procurement Hub.  The 
Procurement Hub (the Hub) has been awarded funding for a period of three 
years and is based at the Fire Service College (FSC); the intention is to 
provide a procurement focus and coordination role within the fire service. 

1.5 The stated vision of the Hub is: 

 To have a research and development capability for the UK Fire and 
Rescue sector; 

 To have brought together a wide variety of partners and created 
collaborations, all with a unified aim of creating a single end to end 
process encompassing all aspects of research and development; 

 To join-up academic research, solutions and product development, 
product testing and evaluation, implementation and evaluation; 

 To have embedded collective practices that encompass both our own 
needs and those of other blue light services. 

1.6 As well as the formation of the Hub, Kent Fire and Rescue Service is acting 
as the fire service link with the Home Office as the sector lead for 
procurement. 

1.7 In June 2016 and as part of this process the Home Office sent out a 
questionnaire requesting the prices paid by fire services across England for 
a list of twenty five items; this is termed as the “basket of goods”. 

1.8 The basket of goods covered items from uniform, personal protective 
equipment (often referred to as ‘fire kit’), operational equipment, services, 
vehicle parts and fire vehicles.   

2. REPORT 

 

2.1 In line with all other English services, Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue 
Service (NFRS) completed the basket of goods questionnaire and submitted 
this in June 2016 to the Home Office. 

Page 32



 

 

2.2 The Home Office published the results of the questionnaire on 24th August 
2016 showing the prices individual fire services paid for each of the items 
within the basket of goods.  

2.3 The basket of goods provided a specification for each item and the aim was 
that each fire service would provide the price paid for each one.  The 
specification was determined independently by others; however in many 
cases the specification didn’t reflect a consensus of all the fire services 
taking part. 

2.4 Once the results of the questionnaire were published NFRS’s Procurement 
Section carried out an analysis of the prices submitted by other fire services.  
This analysis was to compare those prices paid by NFRS and entailed 
making direct contact with other fire services to gather the details of each 
item within the basket where those items were the highest and lowest cost.  
The analysis included the following: 

 The specification published for each of the items in the questionnaire 
and if it applied to those items purchased by NFRS 

 The average price paid for each of the items in the basket of goods  

 The lowest price paid for each item 

 The highest price paid for each item 

 If the supplier of those items sold to other fire services were the same 
as those used by NFRS and the prices were comparable 

 If the specification published in the basket of goods were met by other 
fire services when comparing prices 

2.5 The summary of this cost analysis comparing the prices paid by individual 
fire services is at Appendix A 

2.6 On an initial inspection of the results in the spread sheet NFRS is placed in 
or around the mid-section of the price range for the items within the basket.  
However this does not provide an accurate reflection of the situation nor 
show the true cost of the items.  These prices merely show the ticket price of 
each item but do not show if best value is being achieved. 

2.7 The detailed analysis provided some clarity on the information published by 
the Home Office from other fire services in the basket of goods; some of the 
findings included: 

 The prices stated by services were for items of varying specification; 
this meant there was not a like for like comparison of cost or service 
level; 

 The specification provided within the questionnaire was erroneous and 
wouldn’t necessarily be applicable to commonly purchased items by fire 
services; 

 That some of the item weren’t purchased by NFRS (in particular the 
managed service of personal protective equipment – fire kit); 

 The prices shown didn’t reflect or show whole-life costs of the items. 

 

Page 33



 

 

2.8 From the analysis there was only one item that NFRS paid a slightly higher 
price for; this was for flash hoods where one other fire service paid less for 
the same specification from the same supplier.  On investigation this was 
due to the high quantity of flash hoods purchased by the other fire service, 
resulting in economies of scale.  NFRS is now in discussions with this and 
other fire services to see if there is any scope to collaborate and bulk buy 
common items. 

2.9 NFRS is already collaborating on the procurement of a number of goods and 
has been for some time. This exercise has had the effect of opening up 
contact with fire services who have not so far been procurement partners 
with the Service, thus increasing the potential for further collaboration 
opportunities, which is one of the key expectations of the Home Office.   

2.10 NFRS is actively engaging with other fire services where the opportunity 
exists, and with the Hub and the Home Office.  Meetings with members of 
the Hub and of the Home Office have been arranged throughout October to 
explore what assistance can be provided to and from NFRS as it is hoped, 
although not without potential complications, that some improvement within 
procurement practices could be achieved. 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 The proposed reforms by the Home Office will almost certainly have financial 

implications within the fire service as a whole.  It is hoped that this will has a 
positive effect on the procurement of goods and services by NFRS.  
However, it is too early in the process to provide any concise or accurate 
information that will indicate what these implications may be. 

3.2 Once the process gathers pace and any financial implications become clear 
they will be reported to the Finance and Resources Committee. 

 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT  

IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising 
directly from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this report. 
 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

Page 34



 

 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no direct risk implications arising from this report, however the drive from 
Home Office around improved procurement outcomes is a key theme of the reform 
agenda and the Authority will need to act accordingly. 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members note the content of this report. 
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN 

PUBLISHED DOCUMENTS) 

 

None.  

 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 
 
 
  

Page 35



 

 

Appendix A 
 

The Summary of the Cost Analysis 
 

 
 
 

Page 36



 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 37



 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 38



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

 

 

Page 40



 

 

 
 

 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham  
Fire and Rescue Authority 

Finance and Resources Committee 
 
 

REPORT ON THE VEHICLE 
REPLACEMENT STRATEGY  
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer  
 
Date:   14 October 2016 
 
 

 
Purpose of Report:  
 
To present the Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service Vehicle Replacement 
Strategy to the Finance and Resources Committee for approval. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
Ian Pritchard 
Head of Procurement and Resources 

Tel : (0115) 967 0880 

Email : ian.pritchard@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Therese Easom 
(0115) 967 0880  therese.easom@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7

mailto:ian.pritchard@notts-fire.gov.uk
mailto:therese.easom@notts-fire.gov.uk


 

 

    

1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 This report is to seek approval from Members for the Nottinghamshire Fire 

and Rescue Service Vehicle Replacement Strategy (the Strategy). 

1.2 The Strategy was presented to the Executive Delivery Team (EDT) and the 
Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) in September 2016.  Both EDT and SLT 
agreed the Vehicle Replacement Strategy.   

2. REPORT 

 

2.1 The strategy itself is aimed at providing a flexible framework within which the 
NFRS vehicle fleet will be replaced in the future; it is intended to provide the 
foundation and agility to cope with a continuously changing environment. 

2.2 The NFRS Vehicle Replacement Strategy is at Appendix A to this report and 
if agreed will be used as the basis on which to develop the medium-term 
vehicle replacement plan and capital budget. 

2.3 The strategy addresses all the significant issues including the overarching 
principles and standards of vehicles, vehicle role and specifications, cost and 
affordability, fleet utilisation and collaboration opportunities. 

2.4 Part Two of the strategy addresses the funding of the fleet including the 
various sources of capital funding and the resultant revenue implications; the 
current financing plans and ultimately vehicle disposal. 

2.5 Endorsement of the strategy will provide a framework for officers, and enable 
transparency of scrutiny through timely reports to Members measured 
against agreed expectations. 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The high level estimated capital expenditure related to future vehicle replacement is 
detailed in the Strategy itself however it should be noted that these figures are only 
estimated and as the planning process proceeds may change.  
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT  

IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising 
directly from this report. 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this report. 
 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are a number of risks inherent in the development of the Strategy and 
management of vehicle replacement projects in general; any such risks will be dealt 
with through the use of project controls and risk registers dealing with the individual 
projects. 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members agree the Vehicle Replacement Strategy at 
Appendix A. 
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN 

PUBLISHED DOCUMENTS) 

 

None.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 
 
 
 
  

Page 43



 

 

Appendix A 
 

 
 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy 
 

Scope: 

 

This strategy is mandatory. 

 

Summary:  This strategy sets out the vehicle fleet replacement aims and objectives of 

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service. 

 

 

Version Control: 

Person Responsible: 

Head of Procurement & Resources 

Version Date 

First Draft 1 14 Oct 16 

   

 

Review Date: October 2018  

 

CONTENTS: Page 

 

Introduction ............................................................................................................... 5 
Overall aims and objectives of the Vehicle Replacement Strategy ........................... 6 
The medium-term vehicle replacement planning ....................................................... 6 
Strategic principles and standards for replacement vehicles..................................... 7 
The vehicle role and specification ............................................................................. 8 
Cost and affordability ................................................................................................ 8 
Collaboration and partners ........................................................................................ 9 
Fleet utilisation and rationalisation ............................................................................ 9 
Fleet reserves resilience and business continuity ..................................................... 9 
Environmental and sustainability ............................................................................. 10 
Training ................................................................................................................... 11 
Programming and timelines..................................................................................... 11 
Flexible and mobile working .................................................................................... 11 
The trading company vehicles ................................................................................. 11 
The support to national resilience ........................................................................... 11 
Part Two – the funding of the vehicle replacement strategy .................................... 12 
Funding background ............................................................................................... 12 
Sources of capital funding ....................................................................................... 12 
Revenue impact of capital funding .......................................................................... 12 
Current Financing Plans .......................................................................................... 13 
Vehicle Disposal ...................................................................................................... 14 
Appendix A .............................................................................................................. 15 

Page 44



 

 

INTRODUCTION  
 
1. The reasons for the development and the implementation of a vehicle 

replacement strategy are well established in setting out the long term goals, 
aims and aspirations for the organisation’s future vehicle replacement.  The 
vehicle replacement strategy sets the overall policy for the effective 
management of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service’s vehicle 
replacement including the wider organisation’s strategic aims and operational 
objectives concerning vehicles.  

 
2. The vehicle replacement strategy (the strategy) is so written to provide the 

necessary agility and flexibility to adapt to the changing influences and 
circumstances impacting on NFRS’s operations.  The strategy provides an 
overarching framework and policy to allow the medium-term vehicle 
replacement plan to be developed, implemented and maintained.  
 

3. The strategy sets out to provide NFRS with a long term, sustainable and 
affordable vehicle replacement policy in order to maintain the provision of the 
statutory fire and rescue services throughout Nottinghamshire and the wider 
national resilience support.  
 

4. This strategy comprises two parts; the first, the overall aims and objectives, 
the ‘what is to be done’.  The second part of the strategy is the ‘how the 
strategy is to be financed’.   
 

5. Part Two of this strategy document intends to provide forward looking 
sustainable planning for the use of the existing vehicles and the rolling 
replacement of NFRS’s vehicle fleet. 
 

6. The NFRS vehicle fleet includes both light vehicles (the white fleet) used for 
general business and support and the front line operational vehicles (the red 
fleet) used directly for fire and rescue duties. 
 

7. The light vehicle fleet categories includes: 
 
7.1. Station utility / support vehicles (station vans, pickups and similar 

vehicles) 
7.2. Pool cars  
7.3. Specialist support vehicles and large vans (Hydrant Maintenance, load 

carriers and other specialised functions) 
7.4. Service owned Officer’s cars 
7.5. Vehicles operated by the trading company 

 
8. The front line operational vehicle fleet includes: 
 

8.1. Standard pumping appliances 
8.2. Multi role appliances 
8.3. Specialist vehicles (‘specials’) with a front line role (specialist rescue, 

command support, aerial ladder platforms and the like) 
8.4. National resilience vehicles (formerly known as New Dimensions) 

Page 45



 

 

PART ONE – THE VEHICLE REPLACEMENT STRATEGY 
 

OVERALL AIMS AND OBJECTIVES OF THE VEHICLE REPLACEMENT 
STRATEGY 
 
9. The strategic long term planning for the future of NFRS’s vehicle fleet is in 

itself a challenging task.  The future vehicles and their function will largely be 
determined around what is expected to be a dynamic and fluid future 
operational need.  However, the planning process necessary for the 
development of fire cover will always be influenced, to a greater or lesser 
degree, on the existing vehicle fleet and to a larger degree on affordability to 
procure, operate and maintain vehicles. 

  
10. For these reasons operational planning and vehicle replacement planning 

must be carried out in harmony to ensure that the operational goals and 
objectives can be realistically achieved through its existing and future vehicle 
replacement programmes. 
 

11. The overall aims and objectives of this strategy are to define the future 
development of the vehicle fleet (the fleet will generally include both white and 
red fleet) and are as follows: 
 
11.1. Ensure operational effectiveness and maintenance through NFRS’s 

vehicle replacement programmes 
11.2. Operational and support vehicle resilience as part of business 

continuity 
11.3. The provision of value for money 
11.4. Effective use and utilisation of the vehicles (sometimes referred to a 

‘sweating the assets’) 
11.5. Vehicle availability through effective fall back arrangements 
11.6. The provision of a long term sustainable vehicle fleet 

 
12. It should be noted that the strategy primarily focuses on the future 

development of the NFRS vehicle fleet and not on the planned maintenance 
and repair of vehicles in service.  The annual maintenance and repair 
(including manufacturer’s recall), because of its nature, is dealt with through 
the annual budgeting process, the vehicle inspection regime and the vehicle 
maintenance and repair procedures. 

 
13. The vehicle replacement strategy is to be reviewed at least every two years or 

as required.  This will also include for the requirement for new vehicles in 
addition to the established vehicle fleet. 

 
THE MEDIUM-TERM VEHICLE REPLACEMENT PLANNING 
 
14. In order to meet the strategy a rolling medium-term plan (up to 10 years) is to 

be put in place; this plan provides the detail necessary to facilitate and 
implement the aims and objectives of the vehicle replacement strategy and 
the expected plan of when vehicles are to be replaced. 

 
 

Page 46



 

 

15. In developing the vehicle replacement plan and to meet the aims and 
objectives of the strategy, planning must address the following: 

 
15.1. The balanced assessment of the future vehicle requirements with the 

primary focus over the medium to long-term  
15.2. The review and assessment of the existing vehicle fleet in relationship 

to operational needs (the red fleet) and business support requirements 
(the white fleet) 

15.3. Other organisational plans and strategies that may have an impact on 
the replacement of vehicles 

15.4. The development of medium-term planning to achieve the overall aims 
and objectives of NFRS on a rolling basis 

15.5. The regular (not less than on an annual basis) review of the medium-
term plan in line with the strategy 

15.6. The general condition of the existing vehicle fleet and the economical 
vehicle life expectancy 

15.7. Collaborative opportunities with other organisations 
15.8. Affordability 

 
16. The medium-term plan for vehicle replacement will be authorised through the 

Executive Delivery Team (EDT) and the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) 
governance process.  The plan is to be a contiguous rolling plan reviewed and 
updated each year or whenever there is a significant change to the strategy, 
the operational need or any other material influence. 

 
17. In order to achieve the overall aims and objectives of the vehicle replacement 

strategy and in development of the medium-term plan there are a number of 
overarching principles and standards that are to be followed.   

 
STRATEGIC PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS FOR REPLACEMENT VEHICLES 
 
18. The principles and standards to be applied to the procurement and 

replacement of vehicles within the fleet are set out below.  These are based 
on a set of general standards to provide both consistency and commonality 
across the vehicle fleet wherever possible.  These principles and standards 
will be the starting point of any proposed vehicle replacement and are 
described in the following narrative. 

 
19. When establishing and developing the need for replacement vehicles there 

are a number of principles that are to be considered.  These principles are to 
determine the form and the function of vehicles and in some cases the 
numbers of vehicle needed, these will include: 
 
19.1. The operational or support role to be fulfilled including the principal 

drivers and justification for the replacement of vehicles 
19.2. The economical working life of the vehicle, affordability and the whole 

life costs 
19.3. The potential of collaboration with other fire services or other agencies 

in the sharing of vehicles or the provision of an *on-call vehicle with 
other partners 

19.4. Fleet utilisation and rationalisation 

Page 47



 

 

19.5. Fleet reserves, fall-back and resilience for business continuity 
management (BCM)  

19.6. Environmental and sustainability considerations 
19.7. Training and impact on bringing vehicles into service 
19.8. Programming and timelines 
19.9. Garaging and accommodation  
19.10. Vehicles to support the national resilience requirements 
19.11. Flexible and mobile working 

 
*This term is applied to a vehicle operated by another agency where NFRS 
have a formal agreement to call upon when needed.  This could equally apply 
to a vehicle owned by NFRS with a commitment to another agency to be 
called upon for their use. 

 
THE VEHICLE ROLE AND SPECIFICATION 
 
20. The primary focus for all replacement vehicles will be to ensure the role is fully 

defined and that there is a sound justification in place to replace, retain or 
increase the vehicle fleet.  This must be linked to the long term strategies of 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service and also be cognisant of the 
shorter term plans including the integrated risk management plan (IRMP), fire 
cover reviews and such like. 

 
21. For the white fleet there is a set of generic vehicle types with a broad set of 

standards to ensure the replacement vehicles are fit for the purpose for the 
roles they are to be used.  The majority of these vehicles are expected to be 
commercially available vehicles with industry standard specifications (‘off the 
shelf’).  Selecting this type of vehicles provides a number of advantages 
including short procurement lead-in times, vehicle availability, competitive 
purchase price and known whole life costs. 
 

22. The standard requirements for the NFRS white fleet vehicles is at Appendix A. 
 

23. As the red fleet vehicles are generally of a specialist nature, high value, built 
to order and with long lead-in times the decision to invest capital into the 
replacement each vehicle will require an individual business case justifying 
the need to replace or procure a new vehicle.  This business case must be 
agreed by SLT. 
 

COST AND AFFORDABILITY 
 
24. The costs and affordability will be a major determining factor in the 

procurement of all replacement vehicles, not only within the vehicle fleet 
budget but across the whole of the revenue and capital funding provision.  
This must always be balanced with the operational need for the replacement 
of vehicles (all types) and the other competing demands for funding for non-
vehicle related procurement. 

 
25. In order to gain the best possible value when committing public funding in the 

replacement or procurement of vehicles whole-life costing must be applied 
whilst being mindful of the affordability.  The whole-life costs must strike a 

Page 48



 

 

balance between the costs to buy, the costs to run and maintain and the cost 
of disposal through the practical working life of the vehicle.  The practical 
working life of each vehicle must be determined as part of any business case. 
 

26. The impact of the capital cost for the vehicle replacement programme is 
covered in Part Two of the strategy. 

 
COLLABORATION AND PARTNERS  
 
27. Wherever opportunities exist NFRS are to actively seek to share with other 

partners whenever practicable.  In practice this may require that the short and 
medium-term planning be changed at relatively short notice.  This may entail 
plans to be either pushed back or brought forward to facilitate any 
collaborative projects in order to harmonise programming with potential 
partners. 

 
28. Collaboration may extend to the on-call use or operation of vehicles operated 

by another agency where NFRS would have a formal agreement to call upon 
when needed.  This could equally apply to a vehicle owned by NFRS with a 
commitment to provide support to another agency when needed. 
 

29. Proposed collaboration opportunities are to be carefully considered as to the 
merit and mutual benefits of any such opportunity; however any proposed 
collaboration should not put NFRS at either a financial nor operational 
disadvantage. 
 

FLEET UTILISATION AND RATIONALISATION  
 
30. When developing a business case for a replacement vehicle(s) the planning 

process is to include consideration to any existing or future potential for 
vehicle rationalisation and for maximising the use of any existing vehicle fleet 
before replacing with new.  This is to say that when the need arises for the 
replacement of vehicles, all efforts are to be made to ensure that the planning 
process takes into account the existing vehicle fleet in order to ensure its full 
utilisation wherever practicable. 

 
31. Maximising the utilisation of vehicles across the white fleet is to be a major 

consideration when considering the replacement of any vehicle or group of 
vehicles.  When planning for the replacement of white fleet vehicles the 
estimation of the minimum annual mileage should be considered in relation to 
the use, utilisation and the capital cost of the vehicle.  This must consider the 
whole life cost of the asset and gaining the best possible value within the 
business case process. 
 

FLEET RESERVES RESILIENCE AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY 
 
32. The numbers and types of vehicles held on the establishment must balance 

the need to provide sufficient vehicles to provide an appropriate level of 
resilience against the cost of owning, operating and maintaining a vehicle 
reserve.  

 

Page 49



 

 

 
33. The establishment and maintenance of a vehicle reserve (the reserve fleet) 

must be factored into any planning for the future replacement of the red fleet 
vehicles.  The reserve fleet must provide an immediate short-term capacity in 
the event of the loss of front line appliances, routine maintenance and repair 
requirements. 

 
34. General planning assumptions in the event where there is a need for vehicles 

through the attrition of pumping appliances or other specialist vehicles 
(primarily red fleet) will be from the use of other vehicles across the county 
within the front line vehicle fleet where available or the use of the reserve 
vehicles. 
 

35. The need for resilience within the white fleet through a business crisis is 
probably less of an issue due to the non-specialist nature of the vehicles 
used.  Short-term capacity for these vehicles can be achieved through 
Business Continuity Management. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY 
  
36. Whenever available NFRS should always consider the use of Government 

sponsored green and sustainable initiatives regarding the procurement of 
vehicles.  These initiatives should be used where there is a suitably strong 
financial case for the use of alternative or hybrid energy sources for vehicles.  
This is to be balanced with the whole-life cost and the potential reduction of 
the environmental impact when using these technologies. 

 
37. Notwithstanding any Government sponsored initiatives, any plan for the 

replacement of vehicles should consider the principles in reducing raw 
material usage, vehicle emissions, waste and behaviours.  The following must 
be considered: 
 
37.1. Ensure as reasonably practicable that NFRS only operate the 

appropriate number of vehicles to meet the organisational 
requirements without over-supply 

37.2. Bring into service the appropriately sized vehicle for the intended 
purpose 

37.3. Wherever possible replace the oldest and most polluting vehicles first 
37.4. Ensure all vehicles are effectively maintained and repaired 
37.5. Procure vehicles that meet or are better (cleaner) than the UK’s 

emission standards where possible 
37.6. Where the opportunity exists as part of the procurement process 

ensure the selection criteria is proportional for the inclusion of efficient 
fuel consumption and the use of other fuel saving technologies 

37.7. Give balanced consideration to the use of alternative fuel and power 
sources in particular with Government incentives 

37.8. Apply, when appropriate to do so, the waste hierarchy; reduce, reuse, 
recycle vehicles 

37.9. Dispose of end-of-life vehicles in accordance with relevant legislation  
37.10. Wherever possible reduce the need for vehicular travel through 

working practices 

Page 50



 

 

37.11. Ensure staff are suitably trained or are made aware of fuel efficient 
driving practices 

 
TRAINING  
 
38. The Services training needs are to be included within the overall strategy and 

vehicle replacement planning to ensure that time and resources are factored 
into the replacement of vehicles prior to becoming operational or brought into 
service.    

 
PROGRAMMING AND TIMELINES 
 
39. It must be acknowledged that the very nature of replacing operational vehicles 

(primarily the red fleet but also some specialist white fleet vehicles) usually 
have prolonged timelines sometimes measured in years.  The design, 
development and the securing of a production slot for pumping appliances 
and specialist vehicles can take up to two years from start to finish. 

 
40. In practice, especially if working with other agencies / partners or when 

collaborating, these timescales can extend out to three to five years subject to 
the basis of the collaborative funding and ultimate use of a vehicle.  Planning 
must be cognisant of these time and programming horizons and should 
include these factors into the planning for vehicle development and their 
replacement. 
 

FLEXIBLE AND MOBILE WORKING 
 
41. In the development of the medium-term plan and vehicle provision, the aims 

and objectives of the flexible and mobile working policies are to be 
considered.  These policies will influence the future need for, and the number 
of vehicles required to sustain the operational and support functions across 
the Service.   

 
THE TRADING COMPANY VEHICLES 
 
42. NFRS will provide the necessary support for the replacement and 

maintenance of the vehicles needed by the Trading Company (the company) 
through an agreed service level agreement (SLA).  The SLA is to follow all 
applicable legislation regarding the provision of services to arm’s length 
companies including the services to be provided to the company and the 
charges for this provision. 

 
THE SUPPORT TO NATIONAL RESILIENCE 
 
43. The special appliances provided as part of the overall support to national 

resilience, also previously known as the New Dimensions Vehicles 
programme transferred ownership to NFRS April 2010.  These vehicles are 
held in the NFRS vehicle fleet to provide specific and specialist functions in 
support of the Fire and Rescue Service national resilience. 

 

Page 51



 

 

44. These vehicles are included on the red fleet capital replacement programme 
with an estimated working life expectancy of at least 20 years.  Once these 
vehicles reach 15 years old, their replacement or the extension of their 
working life beyond the 20 year point will be reviewed through a business 
case.  

 
PART TWO – THE FUNDING OF THE VEHICLE REPLACEMENT STRATEGY 
 
FUNDING BACKGROUND 
 
45. The vehicle replacement strategy is by its nature a long-term view. It sets out 

the standards to which vehicle replacement will be procured but does not 
specifically address the detail of individual vehicles.  This is an issue for the 
medium-term plan.  Nevertheless it is important that the vehicle replacement 
strategy is aligned with the capital resources of the organisation such that the 
strategy is actually achievable rather than aspirational. 

 
46. The introduction of the Prudential Code in 2003 creates the freedom for the 

Authority to properly plan and control the use of capital resources and 
essentially allows the Authority to spend on capital assets but only as much 
as it can afford.  In reality the Authority must continue to assess its capital 
needs against the backdrop of tightening revenue resources. 
 

47. The Authority has determined that the revenue cost of capital (debt servicing, 
interest payments and Minimum Revenue Provision) should not exceed 8% of 
the revenue resources of the organisation.  This is a measure of prudence 
and affordability but is essentially self-imposed and could be varied if 
required. 
 

SOURCES OF CAPITAL FUNDING 
 
48. In the past the Authority has used four methods of capital funding: 
 

48.1. Directly from Revenue (single annual charge RCCO) 
48.2. Loan from Public Works Loan Board or external lender 
48.3. Government Grant 
48.4. Capital receipts from the sale of vehicles 

 
49. The Authority makes little use of other methods such as operational or finance 

leasing although these may again play a role in the future, and may be 
considered for vehicle replacement funding. 

 
50. The Private Finance Initiative and other similar forms of funding are suitable 

for major infrastructure projects but not for the financing of vehicles.    
 

REVENUE IMPACT OF CAPITAL FUNDING 
 
51. The use of Government Grant to finance vehicles will result in short-term 

revenue savings, however in the long-term it may create a problem. Whilst 
government funding for assets may seem an attractive option in the short-

Page 52



 

 

term these assets will inevitably require replacement and will place an 
immediate burden on both capital and revenue budgets in the future.  

 
52. The same is true of Revenue funded capital expenditure and funding from 

capital receipts. When vehicles funded in this way need replacing in future 
additional revenue budget will need to be found. 
 

53. Financing from a loan has some advantages in this respect but of course 
requires revenue support from the beginning.  It must also be remembered 
that low cost loans now may become expensive loans when they need to be 
replaced.  

 
54. The issue of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) must also not be overlooked 

when considering loan finance. 
 

55. MRP is a charge that is required to be made to the revenue account in 
respect of the financing of capital expenditure.  MRP is calculated based on 
the asset purchase cost and the expected life of that asset.    

    
56. Vehicle replacement assets are long term and the financial consequences of 

vehicle replacement decisions can have long term effects on the revenue 
budget.  Vehicle replacement decisions therefore need to be taken carefully 
and with the long-term in mind, including taking account of the Medium-term 
Financial Strategy and known financial constraints at the time of the decision. 
 

57. The 8% MRP limit applies to all of the Authorities capital assets including 
vehicle replacement, equipment, fleet, property and ICT which is why it is 
essential that strategy documents are produced. 
 

CURRENT FINANCING PLANS  
 
58. A general guide the financial plans for vehicle replacement currently under 

consideration and for which budget has either been set aside or will be 
required are as follows: 

 
58.1. FY’s 16/17 –  £273k 
58.2. FY’s 17/18 – Up to £1.07m 
58.3. FY 18/19 – Up to £258k 
58.4. FY 19/20 – Up to £2.5m 

 
59. The above figures are indicative and based on estimated vehicle replacement 

costs taken at late 2016 and will be subject to the vehicle requirement. 
 
60. As stated above however, these plans are only a general guide and more 

work is required on the detailed medium-term plan to consider the actual 
capital requirements of the entire asset base before the final schedule can be 
drawn up.  It is also likely that whilst the overall capital requirements may be 
set out, the actual detail will be become less precise as the plan stretches out 
into the future.  
 

Page 53



 

 

61. This is primarily because the impacts of future IRMP’s and fire cover reviews 
are unknown at present and the overall capital financing requirement 
(including for property, ICT and equipment assets) will need to be assessed to 
contain capital expectations within affordable limits. 
 

VEHICLE DISPOSAL 
 
62. The disposal of any vehicle from the fleet is to be in accordance with the 

Scheme of Financial Management, asset disposal policy and subject to an 
agreed business case through the EDT and SLT governance process.  

 

Page 54



 

 

APPENDIX A  
 
THE STANDARD REQUIREMENTS OF WHITE FLEET VEHICLES 
 
Station utility / support vehicles (station vans, pickups and similar vehicles): 

 Seating for five adults  

 Load area for work equipment / PPE / load carriage 

 Diesel fuel engine 

 Manual  

 Livery  

 Visual / audible warning equipment fitted 

 All-Wheel-Drive 
 
Pool cars: 
 
HQ Pool: 

 Seating for minimum four adults 

 Minimum four passenger doors 

 Rear folding seats 

 Minimum boot capacity 200 litres (seats up) 

 Diesel fuel 

 Manual 

 Up to five liveried vehicles with audible and light warning (fitted for blue light) 
with all-wheel drive capability 

 
South and North Group Pools: 

 Seating for minimum four adults 

 Minimum four passenger doors 

 Rear folding seats 

 Minimum boot capacity 200 litres (seats up) 

 Diesel fuel 

 Manual 

 Non-liveried  
 
Specialist support vehicles and large vans (Hydrant Maintenance, load carriers 
and other specialised functions): 
The specification for specialist support vehicles and large vans is to be determined 
on a case by case basis within a business case through the EDT / SLT governance 
process. 
 
Service owned Officer’s cars: 
The financial limit and specification is to be based on the terms and conditions of the 
officers’ employment contract and guidelines set by the Fire Authority. 
 
Vehicles operated by the trading company: 
 
When facilitating or providing vehicles for the Trading Company the financial limits 
and specification are to be determined by the Trading Company through the Service 
Level Agreement (SLA). 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
Finance and Resources Committee 
 

Corporate Risk Management 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer  
 
 
 
 
 

  
Date: 14th October 2016 
  
Purpose of Report: 

 
 
As part of the Authority’s governance and scrutiny process, to update Members on a 
review of the risk management policy and to provide an overview of the key strategic 
and corporate risks to which the Authority is exposed 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : Craig Parkin, Assistant Chief Fire Officer 

Tel : 0115 838 8903 

Email : craig.parkin@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Therese Easom 
(0115) 967 0880  therese.easom@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Authority has a robust risk management process which enables the 

consideration of key external and internal risks as part of the management 
decision-making process, and the management of those risks to an 
acceptable level. 

 
1.2 This report provides Members with an oversight of the key risks to which the 

Authority is exposed and an opportunity to debate any of the risks or 
associated control measures as part of the assurance and scrutiny process. 

 

1.3 The Authority has a Strategic Risk Register, which is an outward-facing 
assessment of the potential external risks that could have a future impact on 
the strategic direction of the Authority, or should be considered when setting 
Service Priorities. It serves to ensure that the Authority remains alert and agile 
enough to respond to potential change. 

 
1.4 The Authority’s Corporate Risk Register details those risks that are significant 

enough to warrant management by a Principal Officer. Specific risk control 
measures are put in place in order to reduce the likelihood and/or impact of a 
risk occurrence where this is felt to be practicable and/or appropriate. 

 

2. REPORT 

 
2.1 The Corporate Risk Management Policy, attached at Appendix A for 

information, has been updated to reflect organisational changes including the 
Business Risk Manager’s move from the Finance team to Corporate Support 
and the role of risk management champion moving to the Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer. This ‘light’ review of the policy ensures that it remains up-to-date 
pending the production of a joint business planning/risk management/business 
continuity policy. The policy also reflects the Service’s revised format for 
policies. 

 
2.2 To assist Members, Principal Officers and Senior Managers with their strategic 

decision-making, the strategic risk register contains details of a number of 
external factors that could pose a risk in the future, in order that they may be 
considered as part of the decision-making process. The Strategic Risk 
Register is attached at Appendix B. 

 
2.3 Principal Officers and Senior Managers have discussed and reviewed the 

Corporate Risk Register at a workshop event. The up-to-date Corporate Risk 
Register is attached at Appendix C. The top three risks that the Service faces 
are: the use of vehicles on authority business; mobilising; and working at 
height. 

 
2.4 The Corporate Risk Register describes thirteen risks, which is considered to 

be an appropriate number for the Principal Officer team to manage and 

Page 58



ensures that their valuable time is only directed to those risks that have a 
significant consequence on the organisation. The most significant risk 
continues to be the use of vehicles on Authority business. The Road Risk 
Group continues to look at ways of reducing the level of risk, and has been 
successful in reducing the frequency of significant accidents. However, 
addressing the numbers of smaller accidents is more challenging as it 
primarily relates to changes in culture. 

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT  
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resource implications arising from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An Equality Impact Assessment has not been undertaken because this report 
consolidates existing work streams that may themselves be subject to an Equalities 
Impact Assessment. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
The failure of the Authority to effectively manage the risks to which it is exposed in 
itself poses a risk, particularly where there is a systemic failure that could leave the 
Authority and individual managers at risk of legal action. Risk management is a key 
element of the corporate governance framework and it is imperative that risk 
identification and management is both up-to-date and embedded in the decision-
making, governance and scrutiny processes of the Authority. 
 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members note the content of this report. 
 

Page 59



 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
 None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

Page 60



Appendix A 
 

 
 

Page 61



 
 
 
 

Page 62



 
 
 
 

Page 63



 
 
 
 

Page 64



 
 
 
 

Page 65



 

 
 
 

Page 66



 
 
 
 

Page 67



 
 
 
 

Page 68



 
 
 
 

Page 69



 
 
 
 

Page 70



 
 
 
 

Page 71



 
 
 
 

Page 72



 
 
 

Page 73



Appendix B 
Strategic Risk Register 
 

Strategic Risk Action Potential Impact  

Change in UK government Keep informed of political intentions at a national level to understand 
whether a future government may change the emphasis of fire and 
rescue service activity, in particular significant reversal of current 
government policy in respect of the structure of the emergency 
services/public sector. 

Medium (General Election not 
due until May 2020) 

Change in governance 
arrangements 

Consider the potential future assumption of responsibility for fire and 
rescue by the Police and Crime Commissioner or, in the case of a 
successful bid for devolution, an Elected Mayor. In addition to potential 
changes in stakeholder expectations, such a significant change to the 
governance of the Service could have a high impact on employee 
morale. 

High 

‘Leave’ decision in EU 
membership referendum 
(a.k.a. ‘Brexit’) 

Significant uncertainty around impact and outcomes resulting from 
decision to leave the EU in the June 2016 referendum. At this stage, 
the Service can identify key roles that should be involved in a working 
group to assess the risk and determine any management actions 
necessary once the government starts negotiating on exit terms. 

High P
age 74



 
Strategic Risk Action Potential Impact  

Inflation Monitor economic situation and forecasting data as any significant or 
sustained rise in the inflation rate may put pressure on interest rates 
and on cost base. 

Medium 

Increased levels or greater 
concentrations of poverty 

Question assumptions in IRMP with regard to the identification of 
vulnerable groups. 

High 

Increasing stakeholder 
expectations 

Focus corporate objectives on statutory responsibilities. Consider 
potential impact of future funding restrictions prior to committing to work 
not covered by statute and have an exit strategy planned. 
Manage public expectation to a level that is consistently attainable, 
rather than to short-term levels of funding. 

High 

National or local 
demographics, migration 
and age profiles 

Ensure that corporate objectives and long-term planning prepares the 
Service for serving an ageing population, not just a future elderly 
population. 
Question how the Service can attract and retain good quality 
employees in a situation of decreasing supply or competing alternative 
employment opportunities. 
Be aware that cultural migration has the potential to influence the 
cultural balance of a whole community. Individual cultures should not 
be viewed in isolation. 

Medium 

P
age 75



 
Strategic Risk Action Potential Impact  

Social media Be aware that social media invites interaction, and may place pressure 
on political and management decisions. Control of key messages and 
reputation may be driven by others with a variety of different motives. 
Ensure consistency of message across all media platforms. 

High 

Technology: 
Services provided 
The delivery of those 
services 
Back-office support for that 
delivery 

Look to use technology to do better things, not simply the same things 
better. 
Take a balanced view – be aware of the capabilities of new 
technologies, but ensure that the use of technology is driven by the 
corporate objectives and not the other way around. 
Consider the impact of public and political expectation based on 
technological development and balance this with the risk appetite of the 
organisation in respect of the implementation of new technology and 
how this balance may affect reputation and the risk to delivery of 
outcomes or priorities. 

High 

Weather extremes Assess whether the organisation will have sufficient flexibility in terms 
of people, equipment and finance to respond to extreme weather 
events. 
Question whether extreme weather events are identified as part of the 
IRMP. 

Medium 

Green technologies Increasingly mandated through legislation, or encouraged by taxation 
policy and social pressure, long-term decision-making should reflect 
the likely direction of travel in respect of green technologies and 
initiatives. Security of supply may become an issue. 

Medium 

P
age 76



 

Strategic Risk Action Potential Impact  

Statutory obligations: 

 What you deliver 

 How you deliver it 

Ensure clarity over which elements of current service provision are 
underpinned by statute and what is delivered under ‘moral obligation’. 
Acknowledge that any elements of the current service delivered under 
moral obligation and not likely to become a statutory obligation 
constitute a low priority and may have to cease. 
Remain informed, across all professions, of variations in legislative 
requirements. 

Medium 

Competition law: 
Deregulation of sector 

Consider how the Service would react to partial or total deregulation of 
fire service provision, for example, an increase in the number of private 
fire and rescue services serving large commercial organisations, or the 
contracting out of non-statutory or specialist functions. 

High 

Employment law Be alert to changes in societal norms and expectations that may result 
in the need to more clearly reflect equalities, diversity and human rights 
in corporate objectives. 

High 

Legal precedents Maintain an awareness of live litigation that relates to operational 
activity or organisational management and act as appropriate on any 
outcomes. 

Medium 
 

 

 

P
age 77



Appendix C 
Corporate Risk Register 
 

Risk Title Risk Description L I Risk 
Score 

Existing Controls L I Risk 
Score 

Further Controls 
Required 

Risk 
Owner 

Service Priority: Service Delivery 

Equipment Inadequacy of 
equipment and 
personal protective 
equipment 

3 4 12 
VH 

Appropriate specification and 
selection of equipment through 
involvement of relevant 
stakeholders 
Business case required for 
significant purchases, project 
management process utilised for 
major work streams 
Procurement process addresses 
risk issues 
Robust inspection and 
maintenance procedures in 
place 
Issues raised through Health 
and Safety Committee and via 
Operational Assurance Team 

2 3 6M Establish whether 
sufficient assurance is 
gained through the 
Services’ audit 
arrangements 

ACFO 

Mobilising Service is unable 
to receive and act 
on emergency 
calls in 
contradiction of 
statutory duty 

4 5 20 
VH 

Control have business continuity 
plans in place for failure of 
mobilising system and other 
disruptive events. These plans 
are practiced on a regular basis 

4 4 16 
VH 

 DCFO 

P
age 78



 

Service Priority: Service Delivery 

Availability of 
resources 

The risk that the 
Service will lose 
widespread access 
to key resources – 
this may include 
premises, 
equipment, ICT 
systems and data 
or employees 

3 5 15 
VH 

Business continuity plans in 
place 
Service is part of the protective 
security network 
Competent management and 
managers 
ICT policies and arrangements 

3 3 9 H  ACFO 

Employee 
engagement 

Negative industrial 
relations arising 
from a period of 
austerity and 
change 
Risk that the 
Service will be 
unable to introduce 
organisational 
change due to a 
lack of employee 
engagement 

3 5 15 
VH 

Principal Officer team maintain 
positive industrial relations 
Transformation team, including 
organisational development, 
dedicated to managing next 
phase of change 
Multiple channels of 
communication available 
according to the culture and 
industrial relations of the 
Service, and used Service-wide 

3 4 12 
VH 

Transformation team to 
ensure that change is 
introduced as part of 
the business 
planning/risk 
management process 

DCFO 

P
age 79



 

Service Priority: Employees & Workforce 

Health, 
Safety, and 
Welfare 

The risk arising 
from the hazards 
associated with the 
Service’s activities 
which may cause 
injury, ill-health or 
death to 
employees and/or 
non-employees 
and could result in 
both criminal and 
civil sanctions, 
reputational 
damage and 
negative effects on 
service delivery 
and employee 
morale 

4 5 20 
VH 

The availability of ‘competent 
persons’ to advise the Service of 
its duties and necessary risk 
controls which are then 
translated in to safe systems of 
work 
7.2D process provides a 
structured methodology for 
assessing the hazards and risks 
associated with specific sites 
Operational Assurance Team 
facilitates learning from 
operational incidents 
Service learns from other major 
events affecting FRS 

2 5 10 H  ACFO 

 

P
age 80



 

Service Priority: Employees & Workforce 

Working at 
Height 

Aspects of working 
at height activities, 
equipment and 
training have been 
identified as 
requiring review to 
ensure strategy, 
governance and 
change 
management etc. 
are being 
adequately 
addressed to 
ensure that NFRS 
is confident that it 
is adopting and 
maintaining safe 
systems of work 

4 5 20 
VH 

Various elements of policy, 
equipment procurement and 
maintenance, training and record 
keeping 

3 5 15 
VH 

Action plan based on 
the findings of an audit 
[completed] and 
subsequent further 
research to be devised 
and administered and 
eventually signed off by 
Service Health, Safety 
and Welfare Committee 

ACFO 

Workforce 
sustainability 

Inability to 
maintain sufficient 
or adequate 
workforce to meet 
service 
requirements. 
Issues around 
competency of 
staff, loss of 
corporate memory 
and single points 
of failure or critical 
persons in specific 
roles 

4 4 16 
VH 

HR function with advisory 
capacity and suite of policies. 
Workforce planning, providing 
overview of workforce. L&D 
function, operational training 
against role maps and PDR 
process to identify training 
needs. Maintenance of 
competence policy 
PDR review undertaken 2014 

4 3 12 
VH 

Operational 
competence 
progression being 
reviewed 
Scheme for 
maintenance of 
competence to be 
updated on delivery of 
new HR system 
Monitoring of 
(re)training 
requirements arising 
from redundancy 
situations 

DCFO 

P
age 81



 

Service Priority: Improvement & Governance 

The use of 
vehicles on 
Authority 
business 

The risk of 
accidents or other 
events arising from 
poor driving 
standards 
The impact of 
vehicle accidents 
or other events on 
insurance 
premiums and 
retained loss costs 

4 5 20 
VH 

Road Risk Group with action 
plan progress reported to 
SHSWC 
Driver training by L&D function 
Insurance cover to mitigate 
financial losses 
Driving safety policy 
Generic blue-light risk 
assessment 
Generic non-emergency driving 
risk assessment 
External review completed by 
insurers 
Engagement with Nottingham 
Trent University Emergency 
Services Research Group 

4 5 20 
VH 

 ACFO 

Budget 
performance 

Poor budget 
management 
results in 
significant 
overspend or 
underspend 
 
Political impact on 
short to medium-
term budgets 

4 4 16 
VH 

Medium term financial strategy; 
Annual review of budget 
assumptions; Finance staff work 
with budget holders to develop 
realistic budgets for essential 
expenditure which they have the 
capacity to deliver; Budget 
holders trained in finance system 
based budget monitoring; 
Budget monitoring reported 
regularly to SLT and F&R 
Committee 

3 3 9 H  CFO 

P
age 82



 

Service Priority: Improvement & Governance 

Legal 
knowledge 

The risk that the 
Service will be 
ignorant of legal 
requirements 

4 5 20 
VH 

Business Risk Manager helps to 
identify vulnerabilities through 
business planning and risk 
management process 
Use of external lawyers to 
advise on compliance in areas 
not covered by in-house 
expertise 

2 5 10 H Business Risk Manager 
to provide annual 
horizon-scanning report 
on legislative 
development 

ACFO 

Programme 
and Project 
Management 

The risk that the 
Service fails to 
effectively prioritise 
and resource 
programmes and 
projects, resulting 
in acute capacity 
issues and 
potential financial 
strain 

5 4 20 
VH 

Business case process requires 
authorisation of programmes 
and projects by senior 
management who have 
knowledge of competing 
demands and priorities 
Approved programmes and 
projects managed through 
project and programme 
management framework 

2 4 8 H  CFO? 

P
age 83



 

Service Priority: Engagement & Partnerships 

Preventable 
deaths 

The risk that a 
person will die in 
an incident, where 
the Service failed 
to put in place an 
intervention which 
would have 
reduced the risk, 
or where an 
intervention was 
ineffective 

4 5 20 
VH 

Operational response 
Collaborative working with other 
agencies to identify and target 
interventions at high risk 
individuals 
Fire investigations can identify 
instances where interventions 
were not made, or were 
ineffective 
Risk reduction initiatives being 
evaluated for effectiveness 
Serious fire incident review 
panel in place to investigate 
‘near misses’ 

2 5 10 H  DCFO 

P
age 84



 

Service Priority: Environment 

Avoidable 
environmental 
impact 

The risk that the 
Service will fail to 
comply with 
environmental 
legislation resulting 
in the potential for 
enforcement action 
Failure to give 
consideration to 
environmental 
factors when 
making other 
business decisions 
may result in 
missed 
opportunities for 
financial savings, 
reducing waste 
and emissions and 
purchasing 
environmentally 
superior assets or 
consumables 

3 5 15 
VH 

Energy saving and generation 
considered as part of new 
build/refurbishment projects 
Emissions control considered as 
part of vehicle procurement. 
 
Access to competent 
environmental advice. 
 
Environmental Strategy signed 
off by CFA September 2016. 

2 5 10 H Integrate and embed 
environmental priorities 
into day-to-day 
business 
Set targets for the 
reduction of waste, 
energy consumption 
and fuel usage 

ACFO 

 

P
age 85



 
 
 
 
Risk Scoring Matrix 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Medium 

Medium 

Medium Medium 

Medium Medium Medium 

High 

High 

High High High 

Very 

High 

Very 

High 

Very 

High 

Very 

High 

Very 

High 

Very 

High 

Low 

Low Low 

Low Low Low Low 

Im
p

a
c
t 

 N
e
g

lig
ib

le
 

  
  

  
  

 M
o
d

e
ra

te
 

 
  

  
  

S
e
v
e

re
 

 
  
  
  
 M

in
o
r 

  
  
  
  
  

 S
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

   
  
  

  
1
 
  
  
  
  
  
 2

 
  

3
 

  
  
 4

 
  
  
  
 5

 

          1         2        3    4  5 

     Negligible   Moderate        Severe 

     Minor                      Significant 

 

Likelihood 

P
age 86


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	4 Revenue and Capital Monitoring Report to August 2016
	5 Prudential Code Monitoring Report to August 2016
	6 Report on Fire Service Procurement
	7 Report on the Vehicle Replacement Strategy
	8 Corporate Risk Management

